1980

Joyce Shirley Christensen v. J. Clayde Christensen : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case involves a Motion to Modify Divorce Decree brought by the defendant (R.84) wherein defendant sought to have the original Decree of Divorce (entered herein on October 5, 1972) (R.24-27) modified by having child support money reduced.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried before the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson in two days of trial, the first on January 23, 1979, and the final day of trial approximately eleven months later on December 4, 1979.

At the conclusion of the trial, after having taken the case under advisement, the trial court ordered that the Decree of Divorce originally entered in this action, together with paragraphs C, D and E or a prior Order Modifying the Decree (which was entered on November 30, 1977, R.60-65) be modified. By the terms of the Decree of Divorce and the aforesaid modification, defendant was, prior to the instant proceeding ordered to pay the plaintiff a fixed amount of child support money of \$1,000 per month (\$166.66 per month for each of six children of the parties), together with an additional amount of child support in the event his income exceeded a certain minimum. The Court modified the aforesaid provisions by requiring defendant to pay to plaintiff \$1,110 per month (\$185 per child), to be reduced to \$1,000 per month when the first of the parties'

children ceased to be entitled to child support (hence \$200 per child per month at that time), and the Court deleted entirely the aforesaid provision providing for supplemental child support in the event defendant's income exceeded said minimum.

In addition, the Court defined the term "fulltime student" as being a child in school and carrying the number of hours that the particular institution defines as a fulltime student, and the Court ordered that the modification date was to be effective on the day it was signed, to-wit, April 18, 1980. (R.130-131)

Plaintiff has appealed from the Order of April 18, 1980. (R.132)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks to have the aforesaid Order Modifying Decree of Divorce entered April 18, 1980, reversed, and to have child support payments governed as provided in the original Decree of Divorce entered October 5, 1972, as modified by the aforesaid Order and Order Modifying Decree entered November 30, 1977.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The original Decree of Divorce (R.24-27) was entered pursuant to stipulation (R.10-13) (except as to grounds). It provided, among other things, that a fixed monthly child

support for each of the six children of the parties was to be paid by defendant to plaintiff, and in addition, provided for a supplemental amount of child support which would be variable and which would be determined in accordance with the following formula. We quote from paragraph 9 of the Decree:

"9. It is ordered that in the event defendant's net income from his dental practice exceeds \$24,000 per year (before income taxes, but after professional dues and equipment and other like expenses of his profession), plaintiff is awarded as child support, in addition to the \$12,000 per year hereinabove provided for, one-half of the excess of said net income over \$24,000 after deduction from said net income of an amount equal to the income tax attributable to such increase. Thus, for example, if in a given year, the defendant's net income before income taxes, but after professional dues and equipment and other like expenses of his profession, is \$26,000, the excess over \$24,000 in this instance is \$2,000, from which an amount would be deducted which is equal to the income tax attributable to said \$2,000 (being the income tax on \$26,000 less what the income tax would have been on \$24,000), and the plaintiff shall receive one-half of the remaining balance after said income tax on said excess is deducted from said \$2,000. Defendant is ordered to furnish to plaintiff access at all reasonable times and places to his records. It is ordered that the provisions of this paragraph shall not apply until the expiration of sixteen months after the date of the aforesaid Stipulation and Consent, that date being October 12, 1972."

On April 22, 1977, plaintiff initiated an Order to Show Cause proceeding against the defendant to have the supplemental child support money which had accrued under the aforesaid paragraph 9 of the Decree of Divorce reduced to judgment inasmuch as the same had not yet been paid by the defendant. On June 8, 1977, the defendant filed a Motion to Modify Decree of

Divorce (R.39) supported by a Memorandum of Points and Authorities (R.36-37) and an Affidavit (R.38). Both the Motion to Modify Decree of Divorce (which is referred to hereinafter as the first modification proceeding) and the aforesaid Order to Show Cause were heard by Honorable David K. Winder on the 19th day of September, 1977, and after a hearing on those issues, Judge Winder entered his Order on November 30, 1977 (R.60-64). At that time the Court reduced to judgment the arrears of child support money which had accrued under the aforesaid paragraph 9 in the amount of \$4,455.50 (\$103.50 for 1974; \$1,486.40 for 1975; and \$2,963.50 for 1976). The Court at that time ruled on the constitutional issue raised by the defendant (which is not involved in the present appeal proceeding) and finally in paragraphs C, D and E of that Order (R.62,63,64) modified the aforesaid paragraph 9 by providing that the supplemental child support money was to be computed by reference to the defendant's federal income tax returns as opposed to general records, provided for the mechanics of defendant's furnishing information to the plaintiff in order to compute the supplemental amount of child support money, and provided that the paragraph 9 formula, although it would remain the same for computing the supplemental child support, would be reduced by one-sixth as each of the children of the parties ceased to be entitled to child support money. We set forth paragraphs C, D and E in full for the convenience of the Court:

"C. The first sentence of paragraph 9 of the said Decree of Divorce is modified to read as follows:

"IT IS ORDERED that in the event defendant's net income from his dental practice exceeds \$24,000.00 per year as declared on his federal income tax return (before income taxes, but after professional dues and equipment and other like expenses of his profession), plaintiff is awarded as child support, in addition to the \$12,000.00 per year hereinabove provided for, one-half of the excess of said net income over \$24,000.00 after deduction from said net income of an amount equal to the income tax attributable to such increase.'

"The remainder of paragraph 9 shall remain in full force and effect as presently set forth in the Decree of Divorce. It is thus the intention of the Court that in determining additional child support, if any, pursuant to paragraph 9 of the said Decree of Divorce, the parties shall refer to the items set forth in the federal tax return, and not to extraneous items which have not been incorporated in the return. Nevertheless defendant is not precluded from making bona fide amendments to his tax returns, and in the event of such a bona fide amendment, the defendant shall be entitled to an appropriate adjustment. The Court notes that currently the relevant schedule to be used in determining defendant's liability, if any, under paragraph 9 of the Decree of Divorce as amended is the Federal Schedule C.

"D. IT IS ORDERED that hereafter the defendant furnish to the plaintiff copies of state and federal returns within two weeks after they are filed. Plaintiff will then have two weeks after receipt thereof in which to submit to the defendant the amount of additional child support which plaintiff contends is owing under the Decree of Divorce as modified. Defendant shall have two weeks from receipt of notice of said claimed amount in which to serve notice of objection thereto. If no such notice of objection is served within that two-week period, the sum submitted by plaintiff to defendant shall stand as the amount owing to the plaintiff by the defendant as and for additional child support. However, if the claimed sum is denied, then either party shall have the right to apply to the court for a hearing to determine the proper amount of additional child support money, if any.

"E. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that increased child support money as provided in paragraph 9 of the Decree of Divorce as amended shall be deemed payable one-sixth (1/6) for each of the children of the parties. Thus, although the method for computing the total additional child support under paragraph 9 of the Decree of Divorce as amended shall remain constant, the amount actually paid by defendant to the plaintiff will be subject to appropriate reduction as the children cease to be entitled to child support in accordance with the other provisions of the Decree of Divorce."

On February 17, 1978, less than three months after entry of the first Order Modifying Decree of Divorce (referred to above), the defendant filed another Motion for Modification of Decree (R.84) supported by an Affidavit (R.81-83). That Affidavit was supplemented by a second Affidavit filed December 5, 1978 (R.94-99).

We will deal with the allegations of this Motion in detail under Point I hereafter. However, for present purposes it will suffice to point out that the thrust of defendant's argument was that, although his gross income had increased from approximately \$55,326 in 1972 to \$92,359 in 1977, his percentage of profit had decreased, although his net income had increased from \$26,808 in 1972 to \$31,324 in 1977.

Plaintiff's answer to defendant's position was set forth in an instrument entitled Motion in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Modification and was supported by an Affidavit (R.88-91). The thrust of plaintiff's defense was:

1. That the petition was barred by the principles

res judicata;

2. That the petition failed to state a claim against the plaintiff upon which relief could be granted, i.e., failed to allege grounds justifying a modification;

3. That there was no sufficient change of circumstances in any event.

The second Petition for Modification was heard by the Honorable Homer F. Wilkinson, Judge, on January 23, 1979, and testimony was concluded on December 4, 1979. In its modification the Court deleted the provisions for supplemental child support money and substituted in its place an order that the defendant pay to plaintiff \$185 per month child support money for each child, to be increased to \$200 per month per child when one of the children is no longer entitled to support payments. As noted above, the Court also defined the term "fulltime student" and decreed the changes to be effective April 18, 1980 (R.130-131).

The transcript of testimony from the trial on January 23, 1979, is hereinafter referred to as "T" and the testimony from the hearing on December 4, 1979, is hereinafter referred to as "2T".

The defendant testified that he knew of the problem which was the basis for his second Motion for Modification at least as early as 1976 (T.26,T.58).

At the commencement of trial on the second day,

December 4, 1979, the Court ruled in effect that events transpiring prior to the date of the trial of the first Petition for Modification (September 19, 1977) were res judicata and would not be admissible in this proceeding. However, the Court ruled that inasmuch as the defendant's finances for 1977 were not fully known to him at that time, the Court would allow testimony with regard to his financial situation throughout the entire year of 1977 (2T.3;2T.30;2T.52). Thereafter the trial was basically restricted to a consideration of the change of circumstances between 1977 and 1979. In this connection, it should be noted that the Court admitted into evidence defendant's financial records for the first six months of 1979 over plaintiff's objections (2T.57). Objection was made because these records were not part of defendant's pleadings and had not been furnished to plaintiff's counsel prior to the trial.

The Court erred in admitting the same. Also there was no showing that defendant's financial records for the first half of 1977 were not available to defendant as of September 19, 1977.

We desire now to summarize the testimony with regard to the alleged change of circumstances between 1977 and 1979 as follows:

The defendant's financial records (which set forth the facts in this connection) are found in Exhibit P-2, which is defendant's tax records for 1977, Exhibit 8-P, which consists

which consists of defendant's income tax records for 1978, and Exhibit D-4, which consists of a summary of defendant's testimony regarding his income for the first six months of 1979.

In addition, after the Court's ruling that matters prior to 1977 were inadmissible, Exhibit D-1 remained viable only with regard to the information set forth for 1977, and in addition, an exhibit prepared by the plaintiff, Exhibit 11-P, was admitted in evidence with regard to the year 1977 only and shows the defendant's 1977 income, including his percentage of profit as claimed by the defendant and also how those figures would appear if a salary of \$8,000 paid by the defendant to his second wife in 1977 were considered as defendant's own income, and we will discuss that matter further hereafter.

Defendant's Income.

The following is a summary of defendant's earnings for 1977, 1978 and 1979:

	1977	1978	1979 (first six months)	1979 (projected for twelve months)
Gross Income	\$92,359	\$82,395	\$42,104.29	\$84,208.58
Over- head	61,035	55,961	24,890.20	49,780.40
Net Income	31,324	26,434	17,214.09	34,428.18

In addition to his dental practice, the defendant testified that he taught a community education course, from which he had a small income (2T.29). The defendant also testified that

he invested \$25 per month in an investment club (2T.90).

The defendant remarried in 1976 (T.9,10) and has two children by this second marriage (2T.28). Defendant's second wife had earnings of \$12,473 in 1977 (Exhibit P-2) and defendant testified that \$8,000 of that sum was paid by defendant to his wife as a salary for services allegedly rendered by her for (2T.84) him/. Defendant's second wife had income in 1978 of \$9,890 (Exhibit 8-P) and defendant testified that \$8,400 of this sum was paid to her by the defendant for alleged services (2T.84).

Defendant did not testify to the amount he paid his wife in 1979, but stated that it would be less than \$10,000 (2T.45). The salary paid to defendant's second wife by defendant was listed in 1977 in the figure for his general office overhead, but was listed as a separate item in 1978 (2T.81).

Defendant testified that he works as a dentist in a clinic in Granger and that the clinic provides generally for his needs, does the billing for him, and collects his accounts (2T.77-78). He stated that his wife did not work at the clinic, but wrote some checks for him at home, called on some bad accounts, and kept records for him at home, although the exact nature of that record-keeping was not disclosed (T.48).

At 2T.47 the defendant stated that: "I pay my wife a salary so that I can make an end run on the clause that is in the decree." At 2T.84 defendant testified with regard to the services performed by his wife, and we set forth the following

from the transcript:

"Q What services did she render?

A As far as I am concerned it is relative. I have already stated to the Court I pay her so that I can live.

Q Do you consider that, the money you paid your wife, was really income to yourself?

A That is possible.

Q You don't pretend she did any specific things?

A She does do some things. I don't know it is worth \$8,000."

In referring to the employment of his wife, defendant's own counsel in closing argument at 2T.129 referred to defendant as not being "straight arrow" and again on page 2T.130, referred to the arrangement as a "sham."

Plaintiff's Income.

Plaintiff testified that she remarried on May 12, 1979 (2T.5), and with regard to the children of the parties, she testified that five were still at home and one was attending college at Utah State University (2T.142). She stated that her only income was approximately \$200, which she received from sale of an asset she had owned in 1977 (2T.26-27). She testified that she had borrowed \$34,000 in 1975 and that that sum was owing in 1977 (2T.15), and that the said \$200 per month was paid or was available to be applied on the aforesaid indebtedness of \$34,000 (2T.26).

The plaintiff testified that in 1977 she was receiving

church welfare which consisted of food and utility bills, and that the sum of approximately \$1,800 was paid by the Church for her other expenses between April 1977 and November 1977 (2T.17; 2T.19). She stated that she was unemployed in 1977 and also at the time of the trial, but that she had worked briefly from February of 1978 to October 1978 (2T.6). She also testified that her present husband was now paying her expenses and contributed to the home approximately the amount which his presence added to household expenses (2T.8).

Insurance.

Defendant was ordered to maintain for the benefit of the children of the parties the life insurance which he had at the time of the divorce and also health and accident insurance (see paragraph 5 of the Decree of Divorce, R.26). The defendant testified that this life insurance was not a term policy, but rather a policy whereby he was building up an equity for his retirement. He further testified that the cost of the life insurance had not changed at all since the time of the Decree (2T.106), but that his health and accident insurance increased from \$450.84 in 1977 to \$840 in 1979 (2T.33), but it still did not cost him anymore to have his children by his first marriage included in the policy along with his present wife and the two children by his second marriage (2T.76). Thus, even if defendant were not required to provide that benefit to the children of his first marriage, there would be no savings to him thereby.

The defendant testified that he was providing a disability insurance for the benefit of the children of his first marriage, although he testified that the disability insurance runs only to him (T.55). The Decree of Divorce does not require defendant to provide or maintain disability insurance.

Self-Employment Tax.

Defendant's self-employment tax in 1977 was \$1,304, in 1978 was \$1,434, and he testified that in 1979 his self-employment tax would be \$1,700 (2T.52).

The defendant was asked to give his reasons for seeking a modification of the Decree of Divorce. In addition to the aforesaid matters relating to change of circumstances, defendant testified substantially that his reasons for seeking modification of the Decree of Divorce were:

1. That it was inequitable and unworkable and that it required him to have an accountant and plaintiff to have an accountant with a potential for disagreement (2T.38).

2. Defendant stated that under the original Decree of Divorce: "Under this thing I am unable to show that I can't pay that." (T.40)

Defendant's own expert witness, a certified public accountant by the name of James W. Anderson, testified as follows when he was asked whether the formula under the Decree of Divorce as modified was workable. He stated at T.70: "It's workable, but it takes time to make the calculations, but it is a workable

calculation."

Defendant also testified at T.59 when asked whether in each year from 1972 to 1976 a dollar figure had been arrived at under the formula as follows: "Well, it had been arrived at, because her accountant did it, yes."

Fulltime Student Issue.

The plaintiff testified that since August 1979 defendant had reduced her child support money by the sum of \$166 per month, claiming that one of the children was not a fulltime student (2T20-21). With regard to that issue the Court ruled that the propriety of defendant's deducting \$166 per month from the plaintiff's child support would not be ruled on in this proceeding as it was not before the Court/. By reason of the Court's ruling, no evidence was introduced on that issue.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Court in its final Order defined "fulltime student" and ruled in paragraph 2 (R.131) as follows:

"It is further ordered that a child shall be considered a fulltime student when such child is in school and carrying the number of hours that the institution defines as a fulltime student. The foregoing provision is intended to apply to a normal school year of approximately nine months. If a child complies with the foregoing provisions, the child support money shall be paid for such child during the normal summer vacation of three months, even though such child is not in school during the said summer vacation."

ARGUMENT

POINT I. THE COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO DISMISS DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO MODIFY DIVORCE DECREE FOR FAILURE TO ALLEGE GROUNDS JUSTIFYING MODIFICATION AND AS BEING BARRED BY THE PRINCIPLES OF RES JUDICATA.

Defendant's Motion to Modify Divorce Decree (R.84), which is the subject of the present proceeding, sought to achieve a modification of the original Decree of Divorce by showing an alleged change of circumstances between the time of the entry of the original Decree on October 25, 1972, and the time of the filing of the said Motion, to-wit, February 17, 1978, notwithstanding that a prior Motion for Modification brought by the defendant had just been disposed of by Order of the District Court of Salt Lake County entered November 30, 1977 (R.60-64). The plaintiff claims that the second Motion for Modification was barred by the principles of res judicata as to events prior to the first modification proceeding. Res judicata would of necessity preclude the second Motion for Modification from stating a claim with regard to events prior to November 30, 1977. The sufficiency of the allegations of said Motion would thus have to be tested with regard to the period beginning November 30, 1977, and ending on the date the second Motion was filed, which was February 17, 1978, or at most to December 5, 1978, when a Supplemental Affidavit was filed by the defendant. (R.94-95).

The defenses of res judicata and failure to state a claim were raised by the plaintiff in her answer to defendant's

second Motion for Modification [which answer was actually entitled Motion in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Modification (R.88), which was supported by an Affidavit (R.90-91).]

In asserting the aforesaid defenses, plaintiff sought to dismiss defendant's Motion for Modification at the outset. These Motions were incorporated in a Memorandum which was served upon defendant's counsel on the first day of trial, January 23, 1979, at which time it was filed with the court/. (R.111-114) (The Memorandum was apparently not placed in the file by the Court until October 26, 1979.) At the conclusion of these arguments, the Court took that matter under advisement and gave the defendant ten days to reply. (It was anticipated by the Court and the parties that the case could not be finished as to the evidence in one day and would have to be concluded on a separate day in the event further evidence was required. The case was set for further hearing on April 13, 1979, and notice thereof was served February 5, 1979, but the actual concluding day of trial was not held until December 4, 1979.) In any event defendant never did file a response to said Memorandum within ten days, or otherwise. (See Minute entry R.100 regarding these events.)

It is plaintiff's contention that the said Motion to Dismiss should have been granted, both on the merits and for failure of the defendant to respond on January 23, 1979, or at least ten days (approximately) thereafter.

As to the matter of res judicata, it should be noted

that the Decree of Divorce in this action was entered on the 25th day of October, 1972 (R.24-28). It was entered pursuant to stipulation signed by the parties and their counsel (R.10-13). As noted in the Statement of Facts the Decree contains a provision with respect to child support fixing an amount certain and also providing for a supplemental amount in the event that the defendant's income should increase above a specified minimum as set forth in the Statement of Facts. Those provisions of the Decree are set forth in the Statement of Facts at page 3 of this brief, so we will not repeat them at this point.

A careful reading of those provisions shows that the clause providing for a supplemental amount of child support was before the Court in 1977 and was, in fact, modified in at least three respects: Federal tax records were to be used as opposed to general records; mechanics of ascertaining the additional amount were spelled out; and provision for handling that clause as the children ceased one by one to be entitled to child support were set forth.

It thus appears clear that the first modification hearing fully considered the matter of the supplemental child support clause and amended it extensively. Although defendant did not at that time raise the matters contained in his second Motion for Modification, those items could, and should, have been raised (except perhaps for the three-month period between

November 30, 1977, and February 17, 1978, when the second Motion for Modification was filed).

By reason of the failure of the Court to grant plaintiff's Motion to Dismiss, substantially all of the testimony of the first day of trial on January 21, 1979, was irrelevant as it was devoted to testimony relating to the exhibit which was attached to defendant's Supplemental Affidavit (R.94-99), which exhibit was introduced in evidence as Exhibit D-2 over plaintiff's objection. That exhibit dealt with events transpiring between the years of 1972 and 1977. Only 1977 was relevant.

At the commencement of the second day of trial on December 4, 1979, the Court in effect granted plaintiff's Motion on the matter of res judicata by ruling that evidence prior to the hearing in the first modification proceedings (September 17, 1977, was irrelevant and would be precluded, except the Court allowed testimony of the defendant's income for the entire year of 1977 on the theory that as of the hearing on September 19, 1977, all of the information relating to the defendant's 1977 income was not known.

Thus, although the Trial Court upheld plaintiff's contention of res judicata as of January 1, 1977, we believe that the Court should have upheld the defense of res judicata as of the time of the Court's Order of November 30, 1977, or at least as of September 19, 1977, for all purposes. First of all, since defendant was permitted to introduce testimony of the first one-

half of 1979, he should have been held to the same standard in 1977, as there was no showing that his financial records for at least the first one-half of 1977 were not available to him. Second, it is the date of the Order of Modification that appears to be controlling.

At 18 ALR 2d, page 18, the following statement is set forth:

"Where there have been one or more previous decisions on motions for modification of a decree, the question whether there has been a substantial change in the circumstances of the parties is determined with respect to the period commencing with the date of the most recent order on a motion for modification and not with respect to the time since the original decree was entered." (Emphasis added)

In Hudson v. Hudson, 8 Wash 2d 114, 111 P2d 573 (1941), the appellant in 1938 petitioned for an award of alimony (the court having reserved jurisdiction on that matter). At that hearing the court held that there was not sufficient change of circumstances and denied the application. The appellant again brought a similar motion in 1940, which was denied, and the appellant appealed from that 1940 order. The court held that the issue was whether or not there was a change of circumstances since the 1938 order, not since the entry of the original decree. At page 574 the court said:

"The order made preceding the one which is now before us not having been appealed from is res judicata, unless there has been, since that order was entered, a material change in the circumstances of the parties." (Emphasis added)

In 24 Am Jur 2d §676, Divorce and Separation, the following statement is found at page 795:

"Where the court has entertained and decided one petition for modification, the order entered in that proceeding is res judicata, so that one cannot maintain a second petition for modification unless he can show that since the entry of the order on the first petition for modification there has been a substantial change of circumstances." (Emphasis added)

In Osmus v. Osmus, 114 Ut 216, 198 P2d 233 (1948), this court considered the same question. In that case the defendant claimed that he entered into a stipulation prior to the decree of divorce regarding alimony based upon the representation of his attorney that he could later get it reduced. The court held that the defendant was in effect seeking to have the original decree modified because it was claimed to be unfair and not because of any change of circumstances. The court held that the defendant was precluded from obtaining a change in the decree since there was no change of circumstances which would warrant that relief. The court stated at page 224:

"What defendant is really contending is that the alimony awarded by the interlocutory divorce decree was excessive. His proper remedy would have been to appeal from that decree. A petition for modification is not the proper way to have changed the terms of an erroneous alimony decree.

In point of fact, defendant is in a poor position to complain. He stipulated to an alimony decree of \$250 per month, apparently without any expectation of ever complying with it. He is hardly in a favorable position now to assert that the alimony awarded is excessive."

It seems clear that the instant case is almost

identical with Osmus. The defendant's principal contention is that the original divorce provision is not fair to him and not really that there has been any change of circumstances. We do not believe that the facts support either contention.

Defendant has not appealed the Court's ruling on the question of res judicata, and we take it therefor that at the very least, events prior to January 1, 1977, are precluded from consideration. Events prior to November 30, 1977, are likewise barred, we believe, and urge this court to so hold.

Further, we therefore take it that in canvassing the pleadings of the defendant to determine whether they state grounds for modification, they will be tested by the period from November 30, 1977, (or September 19, 1977, to December 5, 1978, or at most from January 1, 1977, to December 4, 1979). We do not believe that in either time period the defendant's pleadings state grounds for modification.

Prior to actual examination of defendant's pleadings, we desire to observe the following: It has long been the law in this state that a modification of a decree of divorce cannot be granted unless there is a material and permanent change of circumstances since the preceding order. In Carson v. Carson, 87 Ut 1, 47 P2d 894 (1935), the court stated at page 4:

"In a proper case the amount of alimony awarded in a decree of divorce may be changed. R.S.Utah 1933, 40-3-5. The party to a divorce proceeding, however, is not entitled to a modification of the decree of divorce in the absence of a showing that there has

been a material and permanent change of conditions since the entry of the decree." (Emphasis added)

The Supreme Court has consistently held that the petition seeking modification must allege grounds for change. In Hampton v. Hampton, 86 Ut 570, 47 P2d 419 (1935), at page 420 this court stated:

"It is well settled in this court that in order to secure a change in a decree for alimony the moving party must allege and prove changed conditions arising since the entry of the decree which require, under rules of equity and justice, a change in the decree." (Emphasis added)

And again in Jones v. Jones, 104 Ut 274, 139 P2d 222, (1943), the defendant husband sought modification of a decree with respect to alimony, and the court held at page 278:

"In the instant case there is no pleading which would justify the finding made by the court 'that the sum of \$50 a month is necessary for the proper maintenance and support of the plaintiff, Fuxia E. Jones.'" (Emphasis added)

In the light of the foregoing principles, we desire to briefly review the allegations of defendant's pleadings in connection with the Motion to Modify Divorce Decree. The said Motion itself (R.84) states as follows:

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