1980

Joyce Shirley Christensen v. J. Clayde Christensen : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO DISMISS DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO MODIFY DECREE FOR FAILURE TO ALLEGE GROUNDS JUSTIFYING MODIFICATION AND AS BEING BARRED BY THE PRINCIPLES OF RES JUDICATA

Defendant's first Motion to Modify Decree of Divorce (R.39) was brought by the defendant solely for the purpose of ascertaining the validity of the provisions of the original Divorce Decree prescribing the termination of child support at different ages based solely upon sex. The action was brought in light of and spawned as a result of recent decisions of the United States Supreme Court in Stanton 1 and 2. Attendant the hearing before the Honorable David K. Winder on defendant's first Motion to Modify Decree of Divorce, Judge Winder modified portions of the original Decree (R.24-27) prescribing the mechanical steps and computations to be used in ascertaining the quantum of the defendant's child support obligation. Judge Winder's modification did not alter or modify the quantum of defendant's child support obligation. The modification was made to streamline and make more workable the clumsy and ambiguous fashion in which that computation was to be made.

Subsequent to the hearing on defendant's first Motion to Modify Decree of Divorce the defendant did on the 17th day of February, 1978, file a second Motion for Modification (R.84) on the basis that there had transpired the requisite change of circumstances between the time of entry of the original Decree on October 25, 1972 and February 12, 1978. In addition the defendant filed a Supplemental Affidavit on the 5th day of December, 1979, alleging additional factors upon which the requisite change of circumstances had occurred, those changes occurring from September 1977. Plaintiff claims that the second Motion for Modification was barred by the principles of res judicata as to events prior to the first modification proceedings. Defendant respectfully submits that the sum and substance of the doctrine of res judicata is "that once a matter is officially decided it is finally decided" Massie v. Paul, 92 S.W.2d 1114. A proper application of the doctrine in this matter would require that the matter of a reduction in child support was at one time litigated, which litigation defendant respectfully submits never occurred. The first time a change of circumstance was plead and in fact the subject of judicial consideration was attendant defendant's second Motion to Modify the Decree of Divorce. Counsel for plaintiff cites 18 ALR 2d 18, which citation we believe is absolutely consistent with the correct application of the doctrine and defendant's position in the instant matter. In Hudson v. Hudson, 111 P.2d 573 (1941) the appellant petitioned for an award of alimony. The Court heard the matter and appellant's specific request and acted thereon. Attendant a similar subsequent motion in 1940 the Court held that the issue was

whether or not there was the requisite change of circumstance since the 1938 Order in that at the 1938 hearing the specific matter of an award of alimony was considered. In the instant case the hearing before the Honorable David K. Winder there was no consideration of a reduction of child support.

Plaintiff's counsel cites 24 Am Jur 2d, Section 676, Divorce and Separation, page 795, with which defendant concurs is an appropriate statement of the doctrine of res judicata.

Defendant contends that if there was err in the lower court the err was that testimony and evidence was limited to events occurring after the hearing on defendant's first motion.

Attendant defendant's secont Motion (R.84) the Affidavit (R.81-83) and Supplemental Affidavit (R.94-95) thereto defendant alleged and set forth seven bases, e.g. grounds, for a change. Those bases, e.g. grounds were clearly set forth and alleged in the pleadings provided counsel and in detail pursued at trial. Judge Wilkinson as a trier of fact and subsequent to a consideration of all the testimony found that there was the requisite change of circumstances and acted thereon. Counsel for plaintiff has attempted to consolidate some 259 pages of testimony in his 35 page brief, which summary after a thorough perusal of the record does not fairly characterize the basis for Judge Wilkinson's determination.

POINT II

THERE WAS A SUFFICIENT CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES BETWEEN THE FIRST MOTION FOR MODIFICATION AND THE SECOND MOTION FOR MODIFICATION TO JUSTIFY GRANTING THE SECOND MOTION

Plaintiff has attempted in three and one quarter pages to attack Judge Wilkinson's consideration of 259 pages of testimony and attendant Exhibits in which three and one quarter pages of summary plaintiff has failed to overcome the clear changes of circumstance appearing in the record.

POINT III

AN ORDER OF MODIFICATION CAN BE SUPPORTED WITHOUT FINDINGS OF FACT

Rule 52(c) U.R.C.P. provides:

"Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law are unnecessary on decisions of Motions under Rule 12 or 56 or any other Motions except as provided in Rule 41(b)."

Wright v. Union Pacific Railroad, 22 Utah 338, 63 P 317,

wherein the Court ruled that Findings of Fact were required only in a trial on merits, Findings on Motion for a new trial were not only not required but were neither necessary nor usable in the practice.

Counsel for plaintiff has failed to cite any authority for the proposition crusaded in his Point III and the only factual basis upon which he suggests a modification of a very clear rule is that of the duration of the testimony.

POINT IV

IT IS NOT ERR FOR THE COURT TO UNDERTAKE TO DEFINE THE TERM "FULLTIME STUDENT" IN THE PROCEEDING, IN THAT THAT ISSUE AFFECTS THE QUANTOM OF DEFENDANT'S OBLIGATION TO PAY SUPPORT WHICH WAS CLEARLY AND SQUARELY BEFORE THE COURT

Plaintiff contends that the issue of "fulltime student" was not